STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Aug 17 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Certiorari to Orangeburg County

Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

GEORGE MOSES,

PETITIONER,

V.

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2020-000093

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the court erred in denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction DNA testing where the court misinterpreted the factors for post-conviction DNA analysis set forth in the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-90 by improperly relying on Petitioner's statements and trial testimony that he had been in a physical altercation with the victim as the basis for denying the application?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Shortly after five o'clock in the morning on September 29, 2006, Harry Livingston was found lying on the kitchen floor of his mobile home. App. 127, ll. 4-22. Police and EMS responded to the trailer and Livingston was pronounced dead on the scene. App. 136, ll. 12-16; App. 144, ll. 10-19. An autopsy revealed that Livingston had suffered four non-fatal stab wounds, as well as various lacerations, contusions, and scrapes to the face and head. App. 260-261. Livingston also had defensive wounds on his fingers, hands, wrists, and arms. App. 263, ll. 15-24. It was determined that Livingston died as a result of acute respiratory insufficiency due to blunt force head trauma. App. 270, ll. 4-12.

Through the investigation police learned that the last person seen with Livingston when he was alive was George Moses, Petitioner. App. 345, ll. 4-8. Petitioner was picked up from his job at South Carolina State University and brought to the police station for questioning. App. 345, ll. 10-15. Petitioner purportedly gave two statements to police. In the first statement, Petitioner initially stated that he did not know anything about the death of Livingston.

According to Investigator James Shumpert, Petitioner "rescinded" that statement and said he had been at the trailer of Livingston in the early morning hours on the twenty-ninth to purchase drugs and that when he left Livingston was "fine and well." App. 17, ll. 1-20; App. 349, ll. 12-20. Petitioner was questioned again the follow day which resulted in a three-page statement written by Investigator Roman Rodriguez where Petitioner stated he acted in self-defense when Livingston and Livingston's rottweiler dog attacked him after a drug exchange. App. 27, ll. 14-21; App. 372-375.

In December of 2006 the Orangeburg County grand jury indicted Petitioner for one count of murder and one count of armed robbery. App. 596-597; App. 599-600. On February 9, 2009,

the state, represented by Don Sorenson and Charlie Johnson, called the case to trial before the Honorable James C. Williams, Jr. and a jury. Petitioner was represented by Doug Mellard and Margaret Hinds. App. 1.

Prior to the start of trial, the court held a hearing pursuant to Jackson v. Denno¹ to determine the admissibility of the statements Petitioner purportedly gave to police. App. 9. During the hearing Petitioner testified that he repeatedly asked for a lawyer but that police ignored the request and continued to question him. App. 42, ll. 3-25. Petitioner also testified that he never made a verbal statement to Schumpert. App. 46, ll. 5-15. Further, Petitioner testified that he never had a chance to review the written statement prior to signing it because he did not have his reading glasses with him that day. App. 41, ll. 6-13.

Investigator's Shumpert and Rodriguez testified that Petitioner was properly Mirandized² and waived his rights, agreeing to speak with them. App. 12, ll. 6-8; App. 14, ll. 11-20; App. 18, ll. 13-15; app. 27, ll. 1-13. Both investigators maintained that Petitioner freely and voluntarily gave them the respective statements and that they recorded those statements accurately. App. 14, l. 21-App. 15, l. 5; App. 28, ll. 5-17. However, neither testified regarding whether Petitioner asked for a lawyer. The court found that the state had met its burden and ruled that Petitioner's statements were admissible. App. 57.

During the trial the state called Dr. Laura Mills of SLED to testify regarding the DNA analysis that was performed on various pieces of evidence. Dr. Mills testified she tested swabs from the handle of a knife, from the blade of a knife, from a blood smear on a light switch by an exit door, and from the interior of Petitioner's car. She also tested two cuttings from the jean

¹ 378 U.S. 368 (1964)

² Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

shorts Petitioner was allegedly wearing during the fight with Livingston, as well as DNA standards from Livingston and Petitioner. App. 318, l. 20-App. 320, l. 6. Dr. Mills was unable to recover sufficient biological material to perform any testing on the blade of the knife and the swabs from the interior of Petitioner's car. App. 321, ll. 4-8; App. 324, l. 22-App. 325, l. 7.

As to the other items, Dr. Mills testified that the knife handle contained a mixture of the DNA of at least two individuals, one of which was Livingston, that the light switch contained a mixture of the DNA of at least two individuals, one of which was an unknown male, and that the cuttings from the shorts were a match to Livingston's DNA profile. Importantly, Petitioner's DNA was excluded from every item that was tested. App. 321-326; App. 339, ll. 11-13.

Petitioner took the stand in his own defense. He testified that he had gone to Livingston's trailer between one forty-five and two in the morning to purchase cocaine from Livingston's roommate, George Robinson. App. 400, ll. 1-13. Petitioner had purchased cocaine from Robinson and Livingston on numerous prior occasions and characterized the trailer as a known "drug house." App. 400, l. 14-App. 401, l. 2. When Petitioner arrived at the trailer Livingston and Yvette Linguard³ told him that Robinson was not there but would be back shortly, so Petitioner decided to wait for Robinson to return. App. 402, ll. 17-24. While waiting for Robinson, another individual came to the trailer and had "some dealings" with Livingston. App. 404, ll. 13-18.

Around two-thirty in the morning Linguard went home leaving Petitioner in the trailer with Livingston and Livingston's large rottweiler. App. 404, ll. 19-22; App. 405, ll. 13-14.

³ Linguard was called as a witness by the state. She testified that she left Livingston's house between one-thirty and two-thirty in the morning and that Petitioner and Livingston were the only two people in the trailer when she left. Linguard also testified that prior to Petitioner arriving at the trailer another man came by and "sat for a minute." App. 186, ll. 3-6; App. 188, ll. 1-15.

Petitioner testified the dog was well trained and listened to Livingston's commands. App. 403, l. 22-App. 404, l. 2. After Linguard left, Livingston told Petitioner that he had some cocaine that he would trade for crack cocaine. Petitioner had crack cocaine in his possession that night and agreed to trade with Livingston. App. 406, ll. 1-12.

Initially, Livingston seemed happy with the trade but when Petitioner was getting ready to leave Livingston said he was not satisfied with the trade. Livingston demanded more crack cocaine from Petitioner, but Petitioner said no. As Petitioner tried to leave the trailer Livingston called his dog to attack and picked up a stick⁴. App. 407, ll. 14- App. 407, l. 3; 411, ll. 3-6. In an attempt to diffuse the situation, Petitioner offered Livingston twenty-five dollars⁵ that he had in his wallet to "make the deal even." However, Livingston "slapped the money" from his hand stating he only wanted more crack cocaine. App. 411, ll. 12-19.

Livingston began to hit Petitioner with the stick as the dog attempted to bite and grab Petitioner around his legs. Petitioner grabbed a knife from the kitchen counter to protect himself and was swinging it at Livingston and the dog when Livingston knocked the knife from his hand. At that point Petitioner and Livingston began to fight over the stick, falling over the kitchen table and chairs. App. 408, ll. 7-24.

Petitioner was able to get the stick from Livingston and again tried to leave. However, Livingston grabbed one of Petitioner's legs and commanded his dog again attack shouting "kill

⁴ Petitioner described the stick as fifteen to sixteen inches long similar to an axe handle. App. 413, ll. 19-22; App. 439, ll. 12-22.

⁵ Petitioner maintained that he told Investigator Rodriguez this when he gave him his statement. In the written statement it says that Petitioner saw a bag with fifty dollars in it and that he grabbed that money as he left the trailer – this was the basis of the armed robbery charge. Petitioner contended that never said anything about a bag of money and that Rodriguez added that to his statement instead of including that Petitioner picked up his own money from the floor as he left. App. 411, l.23-App. 412, l. 3.

him Bowser, kill him, kill him.” Petitioner then struck Livingston with the stick until he released his leg. Using the stick and a chair from the kitchen Petitioner was able to back the dog away from the door and leave the trailer. App. 490, ll. 1-15. As Petitioner left the trailer, he stopped to pick up the money that Livingston had knocked from his hand. As Petitioner picked up his money, he noted that Livingston was alive, breathing, looking at him, and trying to get up. App. 417, ll. 1-17.

It was around three o’clock in the morning when Petitioner left Livingston’s trailer. As he was driving home Petitioner realized he had blood on his shorts but he did not know if it was his blood or Livingston’s blood. App. 419, ll. 1-17. Petitioner stopped at the home of his friend, Jeffery Conner, to get a pair of pants from the “surplus clothes” that Conner kept on his front porch, before continuing down the road to the car wash⁶ where he examined himself for injuries. App. 419, l. 17-App. 420, l. 12. Petitioner had some scratches on his legs but was not bleeding that bad. He tried to put on the pants he had taken from Conner’s, but they did not fit him. Petitioner then drove back to Conner’s house, got a different pair of pants, and “stuck” the shorts he had been wearing “in the side” of Conner’s porch. App. 420, ll. 6-12. App. 422, l. 24-App. 423, l. 21.

Petitioner testified that he did not remember stabbing Livingston but that it was possible he could have gotten “stuck” several times while they were fighting. App. 409, ll. 20-24. When he left the trailer, Petitioner did not think he had hurt Livingston “that bad” because they had only been in a “little fight.” App. 425, ll. 2-10; App. 427, ll. 23-24; App. 464, l. 25-App. 465, l. 4.

⁶ Petitioner stated he went to the car wash because he needed light to check for injuries and Conner did not have electricity. App. 420, ll. 1-6.

The jury found Petitioner guilty of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter and armed robbery. App. 577-578. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §17-25-45 Petitioner was sentenced to two concurrent terms of life imprisonment. App. 589-591. On January 3, 2017, after exhausting his direct appeal and PCR remedies, Petitioner filed for DNA testing of two pieces of evidence collected but not tested pursuant to the Access to Justice Post-Conviction DNA Testing Act⁷ (the DNA Act). App. 602-609. In the application Petitioner asserted his actual innocence and argued that the testing of the two items would show another person assaulted Livingston the morning that he died. App. 604.

The state filed a return to Petitioner's application under the DNA Act on November 14, 2017. App. 618-634. A hearing was convened before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson on August 28, 2019. The state was represented by Thomas Scott, III. Petitioner was represented by John Waller, Jr. App. 635. At the hearing Petitioner requested that the court order testing of SLED items 8.3 "swab from pocket of blue jean shorts" and SLED item 18 "the fingernail clippings from Harry Livingston." App. 643, l. 12-App. 644 l. 3; App. 684.

The focus of the hearing was whether the identity of the perpetrator was or should have been at issue during the trial. Counsel Waller argued that based on the contentious Jackson v. Denno hearing and the fact that trial counsel based the directed verdict motion on the lack of evidence corroborating Petitioner's statement, identity was at issue. App. 644-646. The state argued that identity was "one hundred percent" not an issue in the case based on Petitioner's statements to law enforcement and his testimony at trial. App. 650, ll. 18-24; App. 655, ll. 1-5.

The court issued an order denying Petitioner's application for DNA testing on December 16, 2019. App 690-694. Notably, in denying Petitioner's application the court cited to S.C.

⁷ S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-10, et. seq.

Code Ann. § 17-28-40 instead of § 17-28-90 to determine the factors that Petitioner was required to demonstrate in order to prevail. While the two code sections are similar in their requirements, there are important differences.

SC. Code Ann. § 17-28-40 sets forth the form and contents that must be included in the *application* submitted by a defendant requesting post-conviction DNA testing. That section requires, in pertinent part, that the application include an explanation of why the identity of the applicant was or should have been a significant issue during the original court proceedings and an explanation of how the requested DNA testing would provide a substantially more probative result than the evidence submitted at trial.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-90 sets forth the factors to be *proven at the hearing* on the application, as well as the standard of proof to be used. This section does not require that an applicant show identity was or should have been at issue but only requires a showing that the items sought to be tested would be *material* to the issue of the applicant's identity. Further, there is no requirement that an applicant show how the requested DNA test would provide a substantially more probative result than the evidence submitted at trial.

In the order dismissing Petitioner's application, the court found that based on Petitioner's statement to law enforcement and his trial testimony identity was not at issue during the original trial. Further, the court ruled that Petitioner had failed to show how the DNA testing would provide a substantially more probative results than the evidence submitted at trial. App. 692-693. The court made no ruling as to whether the items sought to be tested were material to the issue of the identity of the perpetrator of the crimes.

ARGUMENT

The court erred in denying Petitioner’s application for post-conviction DNA testing where the court misinterpreted the factors for post-conviction DNA analysis set forth in the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-90 by improperly relying on Petitioner’s statements and trial testimony that he had been in a physical altercation with the victim as the basis for denying the application.

In denying Petitioner’s application for post-conviction DNA testing the court ruled that identity was not at issue based on Petitioner’s statements to law enforcement and his testimony at trial. Further the court relied on S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-40, which delineates the requirements of the application, instead of S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-90, which sets forth the factors to be considered at the hearing, as the basis for its ruling. This error by the court was twofold.

First, S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-90 limits the factors to be proven and does not require a showing that the requested testing would provide a substantially more probative result than items previously tested. Second, the plain language of the DNA Act states that identity can be at issue “notwithstanding the fact that the applicant made or is alleged to have made an incriminating statement or admission as to identity.” In his application for DNA testing Petitioner asserted his actual innocence and requested testing of materials that went directly to the issue of the identity of the perpetrator of the crimes. As such, he met the statutory factors for DNA testing under the DNA Act and his application should not have been denied.

The basic principles of statutory construction as applied to criminal statutes have been clearly and repeatedly set forth by this Court. It is well established that in interpreting a statute, the court's primary function is to ascertain the intention of the legislature. When the terms of the statute are clear and unambiguous, the court must apply them according to their literal meaning.

Furthermore, in construing a statute, words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. Finally, when a statute is penal in nature, it must be construed strictly against the State and in favor of the defendant. State v. Blackmon, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991) (citations omitted); *see also* Kerr v. State, 345 S.C. 183, 188, 547 S.E.2d 494, 496–97 (2001); State v. Johnson, 347 S.C. 67, 70, 552 S.E.2d 339, 340 (Ct.App.2001); *accord* Kennedy v. S.C. Ret. Sys., 345 S.C. 339, 346, 549 S.E.2d 243, 246 (2001); Paschal v. State Election Comm'n, 317 S.C. 434, 436, 454 S.E.2d 890, 892 (1995).

The appellate courts of this state have not yet addressed whether a lower court has misinterpreted the factors an applicant has to prove in order to receive post-conviction DNA testing. The only published appellate opinion regarding the DNA Act in South Carolina is Smith v. State, 412 S.C. 472, 772 S.E.2d 286 (Ct. App. 2015), where the Court of Appeals held that based on the principles of statutory construction, the seven-year time frame in which a person must file an application under the DNA Act only applied to those who entered guilty pleas.

Although the appellate courts of this state have not addressed the proper interpretation of the factors in the DNA Act, other jurisdictions have tackled various issues that have arisen under similarly written post-conviction DNA testing acts. A survey of other jurisdictions shows that the majority of cases turn on whether or not identity was or could have been at issue.

In Com v. Wright, 14 A.3d 798, 72 A.L.R.6th 673 (Pa. 2001) the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania held that a confession, even if previously and finally adjudicated as voluntary, did not constitute a per se bar to establishing a prima facie case demonstrating that DNA testing would establish actual innocence. In State v. Braa, 2 Wash.App.2d 510, 410 P.3d 1176 (2018),

the Washington State Court of Appeals held that a claim of self-defense did not categorically preclude a defendant from obtaining an order for DNA testing to identify the perpetrator.

In Zollman v. State, 820 So.2d 1059 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2d. Dist. 2002) a Florida court of appeals held that identity is a genuinely disputed issue even in a case where a victim has provided a positive identification of his or her assailant. See Also Blacklock v. State, 235 S.W.3rd (Tex. Crim. App. 2007) (holding that victim's trial testimony that she knew defendant and identified him as perpetrator was irrelevant to whether defendant could make identity an issue with exculpatory DNA test results).

Further, numerous jurisdictions have held that even when a defendant has entered a guilty plea, which effectively concedes the issue of identity, that defendant can still prevail on an application for post-conviction DNA testing. See State v. Smith, 34 Kan. App. 2d 368, 119 P.3d 679 (2005) (a Kansas court of appeals held that postconviction DNA testing may not be denied solely because the conviction was the result of a guilty plea); Weeks v. State, 140 S.W.3d 39 (Mo. 2004), (the Missouri Supreme Court held that Missouri's postconviction DNA-testing statute applies to both defendants convicted after trials and those convicted after guilty pleas); Glenn v. State, 954 So. 2d 732 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1st Dist. 2007) (a Florida appeals court held that a defendant who pled guilty at his trial to charges of first-degree murder and robbery was not precluded from filing a motion for postconviction DNA testing); State v. Winslow, 274 Neb. 427, 740 N.W.2d 794 (2007) (the Nebraska Supreme Court held that the DNA Testing Act does not exclude defendants who were convicted and sentenced pursuant to pleas).

Unlike the defendant in Wright, *supra*, who actually confessed to rape and murder, Petitioner never confessed to killing Livingston. His statements to law enforcement and his trial testimony were always that the two men had a “little fight” and that Livingston was alive when

he left the trailer. Also, unlike the defendants in Zollman and Blacklock, *supra*, Petitioner was not positively identified as the perpetrator. Petitioner was only ever identified as the last person left in the trailer with Livingston many hours before Livingston's body was discovered. Further, Petitioner did not enter a guilty plea, but pled not guilty and has maintained his actual innocence even after being convicted.

Applying the rules of statutory construction and using the case law from other jurisdictions as guidance shows that Petitioner met his burden of proof and is entitled to DNA testing under the DNA Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-90⁸ provides in relevant part that:

(B) The court **shall** order DNA testing of the applicant's DNA and the physical evidence or biological material upon a finding that the applicant has established each of the following factors by a **preponderance of the evidence**:

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