RECEIVED

Nov 13 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Orangeburg County
Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2020-000093

GEORGE NAPOLEON MOSES,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1525
Orangeburg, SC 29116
(803) 533-6252

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise err by denying Moses’s application seeking post-conviction DNA testing of a swab collected from one of the pockets of a pair of shorts covered in the victim’s blood and of clippings collected from the victim’s fingernails because Moses failed to meet his burden of establishing and could not establish several factors that he was required to establish in order to be entitled to the requested testing, including that the result of his trial would probably be different if the test results proved to be exculpatory, due to the fact even exculpatory results from the testing sought could not have had any conceivable impact on the outcome of Moses’s case when the low potential significance of those results is considered in conjunction with the other evidence of Moses’s guilt presented during trial, which included multiple incriminating admissions that came directly from Moses himself.

Moses contends the circuit court judge committed reversible error by denying his application for post-conviction DNA testing. In support of that contention, Moses maintains the circuit court judge improperly: (1) failed to conduct the correct inquiry by purportedly considering the wrong statutory factors as part of his analysis; and (2) took into consideration Moses’s statements and claim of self-defense when denying the application.¹¹ Moses further maintains he did, in fact, satisfy his burden of establishing the statutorily-mandated factors

¹¹ To the extent Moses contends the circuit court judge conducted the wrong analysis and improperly considered his statements and self-defense assertion, Moses did *not* present those claims to the circuit court judge and, instead, elected to wait to raise them for the first time on appeal. (App’x pp. 642-650; pp. 656-660). In fact, some of Moses’s current appellate claims even directly conflict with the actions of appointed counsel, who—during the hearing—explicitly urged the circuit court judge to review Moses’s accounts of the incident before issuing his ruling on the matter. (App’x p. 657). As a result, those particular appellate claims were not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot appropriately be considered or addressed for the first time on appeal. See Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 470, 719 S.E.2d 640, 645 (2011) (“[I]ssue preservation rules prevent a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.” (citation, internal quotations, and brackets in original omitted)); Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”); State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”); State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced.”); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”).

necessary to warrant post-conviction DNA testing despite the circuit court judge reaching a differing conclusion and, thus, was entitled to the requested additional testing. To the contrary, the circuit court judge committed no error by denying Moses's application for post-conviction DNA testing because he correctly determined Moses failed to meet his burden of establishing all the required factors necessary to warrant a grant of post-conviction DNA testing after taking into consideration the significance of the items Moses was seeking to be tested in conjunction with the probability the testing of those items would change the result of Moses's trial in the event it resulted in the discovery of something exculpatory. Moses's petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

Pursuant to the Act, an individual who has been convicted of a number of different offenses, including voluntary manslaughter and armed robbery, "may apply for forensic DNA testing of his DNA and any physical evidence or biological material related to his conviction or adjudication." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-30(A). In order to do so, the individual is required to submit an application that—under the penalty of perjury—must:

- (1) identify the proceedings in which the applicant was convicted or adjudicated;
- (2) give the date of the entry of the judgment and sentence and identify the applicant's current place of incarceration;
- (3) identify all previous or ongoing proceedings, together with the grounds therein asserted, taken by the applicant to secure relief from his conviction or adjudication;
- (4) make a reasonable attempt to identify the physical evidence or biological material that should be tested and the specific type of DNA testing that is sought;
- (5) explain why the identity of the applicant was or should have been a significant issue during the original court proceedings, notwithstanding the fact that the applicant may have pled guilty or

nolo contendere or made or is alleged to have made an incriminating statement or admission as to identity;

(6) explain why the physical evidence or biological material sought to be tested was not previously subjected to DNA testing, or if the physical evidence or biological material sought to be tested was previously subjected to DNA testing, provide the results of the testing and explain how the requested DNA test would provide a substantially more probative result;

(7) explain why if the DNA testing produces exculpatory results, the testing will constitute new evidence that will probably change the result of the applicant's conviction or adjudication if a new trial is granted and is not merely cumulative or impeaching; and

(8) provide that the application is made to demonstrate innocence and not solely to delay the execution of a sentence or the administration of justice.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-40(C).

Once an application has been submitted, a grant of the requested testing is *not* automatically required. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-50; S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-90; see Dist. Attorney's Office for Third Judicial Dist. v. Osborne, 557 U.S. 52, 82 (2009) (Alito, J., concurring) (explaining requests for post-conviction DNA testing are *not* cost-free and noting “the risks associated with evidence contamination increase every time someone attempts to extract new DNA from a sample”). Instead, pursuant to the Act, a circuit court judge may conduct a hearing on the matter, seek further documentation or amendments to the application, or summarily dismiss the application when satisfied the applicant is not entitled to testing and “no purpose would be served by any further proceedings.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-50.

In the event a hearing on the matter is conducted, the convicted applicant has the burden of establishing *all* of the following factors by preponderance of the evidence:

(1) the physical evidence or biological material to be tested is available and is potentially in a condition that would permit the requested DNA testing;

(2) the physical evidence or biological material to be tested has been subject to a chain of custody sufficient to establish it has not been substituted, tampered with, replaced, or altered in any material aspect, or the testing itself may establish the integrity of the physical evidence or biological material;

(3) the physical evidence or biological material sought to be tested is material to the issue of the applicant's identity as the perpetrator of, or accomplice to, the offense notwithstanding the fact that the applicant may have pled guilty or nolo contendere or made or is alleged to have made an incriminating statement or admission as to identity;¹²

(4) the DNA results of the physical evidence or biological material sought to be tested would be material to the issue of the applicant's identity as the perpetrator of, or accomplice to, the offense notwithstanding the fact that the applicant may have pled guilty or nolo contendere or made or is alleged to have made an incriminating statement or admission as to identity;

(5) if the requested DNA testing produces exculpatory results, the testing will constitute new evidence that will probably change the result of the applicant's conviction or adjudication if a new trial is granted and is not merely cumulative or impeaching;

(6) the physical evidence or biological material sought to be tested was not previously subjected to DNA testing, or if the physical evidence or biological material sought to be tested was previously subjected to DNA testing, the requested DNA test would provide a substantially more probative result; and

¹² As to what was intended by the use of the word "material," evidence in a related context has been recognized to be "material" only when there is a reasonable probability its presence would have led to the proceeding ending in a different result. Clark v. State, 315 S.C. 385, 388, 434 S.E.2d 266, 268 (1993); see United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 109-110 (1976) ("The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish 'materiality' in the constitutional sense."); BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1066 (9th ed. 2009) (defining "material" as "[h]aving some logical connection with the consequential facts" or as "[o]f such a nature that knowledge of the item would affect a person's decision-making; significant; essential"); see also Evans v. United States, 504 U.S. 255, 260, n. 3 (1992) ("[I]f a word is obviously transplanted from another legal source, whether the common law or other legislation, it brings the old soil with it." (citation and internal quotations omitted)).

(7) the application is made to demonstrate innocence and not solely to delay the execution of a sentence or the administration of justice.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-90(B). Significantly, if—and only if—the circuit court judge determines the applicant has met the requisite burden of proof in regard to all the necessary factors, testing should be ordered.¹³ Id.

In the case at bar, Moses—as an initial matter—wholly failed to establish some of the most basic factors he was required to establish in order to demonstrate it would even be possible for the requested testing to actually be conducted in his case. Significantly, in order to be entitled to post-conviction DNA testing, Moses had the affirmative burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence the items he was seeking to be tested were, in fact, actually still available, were in a condition that potentially would allow for testing to occur, and had been subjected to a sufficient chain of custody to ensure the integrity of the results of any testing conducted. Id. However, Moses did not present *anything* to the circuit court judge to satisfy his requisite burden of establishing those fundamental factors. Instead, Moses’s appointed counsel did the exact opposite and conceded to the circuit court judge he had *not* been able to verify whether any of the items Moses was seeking to be tested were still in existence and capable of being subjected to the desired testing.¹⁴ See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315-316, 642 S.E.2d

¹³ Regarding that burden, a preponderance of the evidence means evidence which convinces of its truth and is more convincing than the evidence to the contrary. State v. Scott, 420 S.C. 108, 113, 800 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 2017), aff’d as modified, 424 S.C. 463, 819 S.E.2d 116 (2018); see BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 1301 (9th ed. 2009) (defining “preponderance of the evidence” as “[t]he greater weight of the evidence, not necessarily established by the greatest number of witnesses testifying to a fact but by evidence that has the most convincing force; superior evidentiary weight that, though not sufficient to free the mind wholly from all reasonable doubt, is still sufficient to incline a fair and impartial mind to one side of the issue rather than the other”).

¹⁴ Specifically, during the hearing, Moses’s appointed counsel candidly asserted: “One of the -- one of the requirements in the application for postconviction DNA testing is that the items still

582, 588 (2007) (recognizing a matter conceded in the circuit court cannot subsequently be argued on appeal). As a result, Moses failed to establish some of the requisite factors he necessarily had to establish in order to prevail on his request for post-conviction DNA testing and, thus, was unequivocally *not* entitled to testing being ordered since it remains entirely unknown whether there is even anything that can still be tested—meaningfully or otherwise—in his more-than-a-decade-old case.^{15 16} See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-90(B) (explaining “each” of the delineated factors—including the factor requiring proof “the physical evidence or biological material to be tested is available and is potentially in a condition that would permit the requested DNA testing”—must be established by a preponderance of the evidence before the requested testing shall be ordered).

In addition to those basic foundational failures, Moses likewise did not and could not establish—as required—the results of the testing sought would probably change the result of his

exist. I’ve sent a couple requests to the clerk’s office and I have not received confirmation whether these items still exist or not. That’s kind of a nonstarter if the evidence is still in existence. So I wanted to put that on the record. . . . I don’t have confirmation. I mean, Judge, that’s the very first element for your consideration is whether the items still exist. I just wanted to, you know, put on the record that I don’t have confirmation despite my request just to confirm whether it existed or not.” (App’x p. 642-643). Recognizing the significance of appointed counsel’s concession in that regard, the circuit court judge responded: “Okay. All right. Well, that’s number one on the list.” (App’x p. 643).

¹⁵ In his petition for a writ of certiorari, Moses—without acknowledging in any manner his appointed counsel’s concession regarding his inability to verify whether the evidence sought to be tested was currently available—contends the factor regarding the current availability of the evidence for which testing was sought is “not contested in [his] case.” (Pet. for Cert. p. 12). Obviously though, that particular contention is inaccurate. (App’x pp. 642-643).

¹⁶ Notably, Moses’s clear failure to make the requisite showing does not necessarily preclude him from attempting to do so again at some future point. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-50 (“If the applicant has filed a previous application for DNA testing, the applicant may file a successive application, provided the applicant asserts grounds for DNA testing which for sufficient reason was not asserted or was inadequately raised in the original, supplemental, or amended application.”).

trial if those results proved to be exculpatory in nature. See id. (requiring the applicant to establish by a preponderance of the evidence “the testing will constitute new evidence that will probably change the result of the applicant’s conviction or adjudication if a new trial is granted and is not merely cumulative or impeaching” in the event “the requested DNA testing produces exculpatory results”). That is true because—just as the circuit court judge recognized—any exculpatory results that could have been obtained from the swab of the shorts pocket or from Victim’s fingernail clippings would have been insignificant and could not have had a meaningful impact on the outcome of Moses’s trial when considered in conjunction with the other evidence of Moses’s guilt that was presented. See State v. Adams, 430 S.C. 420, 438, 845 S.E.2d 217, 226 (Ct. App. 2020) (recognizing there must necessarily be “outcome-changing facts” when relief hinges on establishing something would probably change the result of trial); see also United States v. Valenzuela-Bernal, 458 U.S. 858, 874 (1982) (“[D]eterminations of materiality are often best made in light of all of the evidence adduced at trial[.]”).

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